1975

# Midwest Realty, a Utah corporation v. City of West Jordan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This appeal involves the question of validity of an alleged oral contract for the construction and installation of a sewer line by a developer, for the development of two subdivisions, with the City of West Jordan, a municipality, absent the necessary legal requisites of the Utah statutes.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This matter came on for trial before the Honorable James S. Sawaya, sitting without a jury, wherein

the lower court found for the plaintiff-respondent in that defendant-appellant was liable to the plaintiff in the sum of \$20,134.35 on the basis of contract.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the lower court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS\*

On or about August 6, 1970, defendant, municipality, City of West Jordan, a city of third class, approved two (2) subdivisions namely, Western Hills 1 and Western Hills 2, on behalf of developer Midwest Realty, plaintiff herein (Exhibits 2 and 3, Tr. p. 13, line 29 to p. 14 line 16). Said plats showed the land comprised of 34 acres, being subdivided into 167 lots, varying in size from 6500 square feet to 7500 square feet and were properly recorded pursuant to Utah law; said 34 acres were purchased for the sum of \$72,250.00 (Exhibit D-5). Upon the sale of the 167 lots plaintiff, between the time it purchased the land on April 15, 1970 (Exhibit D-5) and it ultimately sold the land as subdivided lots by about December, 1971, realized a minimum net profit of \$73,909.95. (Tr. p. 43, lines 12 to 15).

---

\* For convenience purposes the parties herein shall be referred to as follows: plaintiff for plaintiff-respondent, and defendant for defendant-appellant. All references to pages are as to transcript referred to Tr. All exhibit references are in the same numerical order as admitted in lower court.

There is evidence in the record alluding to the fact that the developer was originally approved by the City Planning and Zoning Commission for 158 lots and that later the City Council approved 167 lots in consideration of the developer's expense in constructing and installing the main sewer line in question (Exhibit D-22).

The lots on said subdivisions were improved by various owners and each lot was connected for water and sewer service beginning with the first connection on November 24, 1970, and the last connection being made on September 29, 1972 (stipulated facts).

Beginning with the month of October, 1971, plaintiff by and through its authorized representatives demanded from the defendant City of West Jordan the payment of monies for the construction and installation of a main sewer line which connected and serviced the two subdivisions (Tr. p. 81, line 16 to p. 82, line 8).

Plaintiff predicated its demands for payments upon an alleged oral agreement between itself and the City of West Jordan wherein the city allegedly agreed to repay the plaintiff-developer \$1.50 per connection per month for a period of 7 years, in order to defray the cost of construction and installation of the sewer main. Said payment was to be made upon completion of the connection of each lot to the municipal sewer system.

Defendant refused to pay any monies to the plain-

tiff and has not paid any money to the plaintiff. However, defendant had asked the plaintiff to increase the diameter of the sewer pipe to be installed said size to be ten inches (10") instead of the contemplated six inches (6"), and pursuant thereto agreed to pay and did pay the difference of the cost of the pipe to the contractor in the sum of \$2,584.

On November 17, 1970, the City of West Jordan entered into its standard agreement with the developer relating to construction and installation of the water and sewer lines and connections thereto for both subdivisions Western Hills No. 1 and No. 2 (Exhibit P-25, Tr. pp. 86-87).

During the period between November 24, 1970, the date of the first sewer connection, and September 29, 1972, the date of the last sewer connection, plaintiff made repeated demands for payment of the City of West Jordan, none of which was honored by the city.

On March 1, 1973, defendant City of West Jordan sent a letter to plaintiff advising it that the governing body of the city considered ". . . the payback agreement in the amount of \$20,134.35, for extension of the sewer line . . ." and that the "council voted unanimously to reject this agreement as presented." (Exhibit P-20, Tr. p. 64.); attached thereto was an agreement prepared by the plaintiff and presented to the council earlier the previous month. (Exhibit P-20).

On or about May 17, 1970, plaintiff filed a Verified Claim with the City of West Jordan as a condition precedent to filing suit pursuant to Utah law. (Exhibit P-21).

Thereupon on July 13, 1973, plaintiff filed its complaint praying for relief upon the alternate theories of (a) contract and (b) quantum meruit.

A trial was held on September 20, 1974, before the Honorable James S. Sawaya, sitting without a jury. On September 30, 1974, the court rendered its memorandum decision and found ". . . that an agreement exists between the parties wherein the defendant city agreed to pay back to plaintiff the cost of the sewer installation and that plaintiff is entitled to its First Cause of Action as prayed." It is from this decision that defendant appeals and seeks a reversal thereof.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT A CONTRACT EXISTED PLAINTIFF IS BARRED FROM RECOVERY BECAUSE IT FAILED TO OBSERVE THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF THE STATE OF UTAH AS THEY RELATE TO MUNICIPAL OBLIGATIONS.

A. The contract between plaintiff and the municipal corporation is *void ab initio* for failure to observe the posting and/or publication of notice relating to bidding.

It is elementary law that a contract can be valid as against the municipality only if there is compliance with state law governing the subject matter of the particular contract. The Utah State Legislature described a method of contracting for the specific purpose of constructing public improvements when it enacted Section 10-7-20, Utah Code Annotated (1953) wherein it states *inter alia*:

If the estimated cost of the proposed improvement shall exceed the amounts above mentioned, [over \$8,000.00 for third class cities] the city or town *shall . . . do so by contract* let to the lowest responsible bidder *after publication of notice at least twice in a newspaper of general circulation printed and published in such city or town at least five days prior to the opening of bids*; provided, that where no newspaper is printed or published therein, such notice shall be posted at least five days prior to the opening of bids in at least five public places in the city or town, the notice so posted for at least three days . . . (emphasis added).

The Utah State Legislature specifically prescribed a mode for the municipality to enter into contracts for public improvements and an integral part of that method is the mandatory requirement of the publication or

posting of notice. Plaintiff has failed to establish in its evidence that there was any publication or posting of the notice pursuant to the requisites of the statute. The record only discloses that three bids were solicited by plaintiff and presented to the city engineers but the record is absolutely void of any reference or evidence that there was compliance with the *sine qua non* of letting public contracts that of publication or posting of notice.

The question then is what does the word "shall" mean as is used in the statute. This court decided the same issue in *Herr v. Salt Lake County*, .....U 2d....., 525 P2d 728 (1974) wherein it held that the word "shall" in a Salt Lake County Ordinance is mandatory and not advisory and therefore jurisdictional in nature. In analyzing the issue the court said

The meaning of the word *shall* is ordinarily that of command. It is defined in the American Heritage Dictionary as follows: "2 . . . d. Compulsion, with the force of *must*, in statutes, deeds, and other legal documents." The United States Supreme Court distinguished between the words *may* and *shall* in the case of *Anderson v. Yungkau*, 329 U.S. 482 (1946) as follows:

The word "shall" is ordinarily "language of command." *Escoe v. Zerbst*, 295 U.S. 490, 493. And when the same rule uses both "may" and "shall", the normal inference is that each is used in its usual sense — the one act being permissive, the other mandatory.

The County Commission did not act within

seven days but took eleven days after the hearing before it attempted to reverse the Planning Commission. Did it thereby lose jurisdiction to make its ruling? The trial court thought that it did.

This court had a related problem before it in *Lund v. Cottonwood Meadows Co.*, 15 Utah 2d 305, 392 P. 2d (1964). Involved in that case was an ordinance of Salt Lake County which provided that an aggrieved party might appeal from a ruling of the Planning Commission to the Board of Adjustment within ninety days after the decision. This court held that the ninety-day period was jurisdictional, saying:

... The 90-day limitation of Sect. 17-27-16 is designed to assure speedy appeal to the proper tribunal any grievance that a party may have who is adversely by a decision of an administrative agency. The evident purpose of the statute is to assure the expeditious and orderly development of a community, etc. . . .

Again the general rule is

That if a contract is within the corporate power of a municipality but the contract is entered into *without observing mandatory legal requirements* specifically regulating the mode by which it is to be exercised, *there can be no recovery thereunder*. If a statute . . . says that certain contracts must be let to the lowest bidder, or that they must be made ordinance, or that they must be writing, or the like, there is reason therefor based on the idea of protecting the taxpayers, the inhabitants, *and the provisions are manda-*

tory. If the contract is entered into or executed in a different manner, *the mere fact that the municipality has received benefits does not make the municipality liable, either on the theory of ratification, estoppel or implied contract . . .*

As examples of invalid contracts upon which no recovery has been allowed for the benefits actually received may be mentioned the following: contracts not based on public bidding; contracts not in writing; contracts not authorized by ordinances or resolution; contracts not authorized by yea or nay vote of the council; contracts upon which there was no vote of the council, where such vote is necessary . . . (citations omitted; emphasis supplied) McQuillin, *Municipal Corporations* Section 29.26.

The law in this jurisdiction is that if the requirements of the statute are not in substance complied with, the contract is invalid and cannot be the basis of any liability against the municipality even though the municipality has received any benefit of the contract. McQuillin, *Municipal Corporations*, Section 29.41.

The question of whether or not publication and posting of the advertisement asking for bids for construction of public improvements is a necessary prerequisite is answered again by section 29.58 of McQuillin *Municipal Corporations* wherein it states:

An advertisement for bids must be published in the manner and for the time required by law . . . ordinarily a legally designated mode of publication is regarded as the measure of power, and

*material non observance will invalidate the contract and proceedings thereunder.* Therefore, if any particular mode of advertising for bids is specified that mode must be substantially followed. Generally no publication is proper until duly ordered. (emphasis added)

Further, discussing the matter of posting of notices relating to advertising for bidding either in lieu of, as is in this jurisdiction, or concurrent with publication, McQuillin states in section 29.59 the following:

*If . . . posting notice is required, a failure to post the notices invalidates subsequent proceedings.* (citation omitted; emphasis supplied).

The weight of authority is consistent with the analysis set forth and it is urged upon this court, consistently with its prior decisions, to uphold the validity of the requirement of publication and/or posting in examining contracts for public improvements.

Furthermore, the statute states that the "town shall do [let the bids] by contract," and the only reasonable interpretation one may place upon that language, especially in view of the public policy considerations involved, is that the "contract" must be in writing.

The Utah State Legislature contemplated that the contracts let pursuant to Section 10-7-20, Utah Code Annotated (1953) as amended 1969, should be in writing if they are for the construction of public improve-

mnetts and if the dollar limitaton (\$8,000.00) is met. It is clear that the legislature by enacting the foregoing section clearly established its intention to allow municipalities to enter into contracts for public improvements but said contracts must be in writing, and therefore, only those contracts which are in writing can be valid and enforceable as against the municipality. Such a requirement constitutes a mandatory condition precedent and noncompliance therewith renders the contract unenforceable. The municipality can make a contract only in the method prescribed by the statute and if not so made the contract is invalid and unenforceable.

The requirements as prescribed by the Utah statute setting forth the mode of contracting, to-wit, the contract must be in writing, is considered mandatory rather than merely directory and must be observed substantially.

In stating the law McQuillin says

Statutes requiring municipal contracts to be in writing usually are construed to be mandatory, and a strict compliance therewith is required to bind a city. It has frequently been held that performance, or partial performance will not cure a failure to execute a written contract in accordance with a statutory mandate. Section 29.22 (citations omitted).

In Utah, in *McDonald v. Price*, 45 U 464, 146 P 550 (1915) this court stated that the statutory method

of disposal of municipal property must be substantially followed, or if the method prescribed is not observed and followed, or the contract, whatever it may be, is invalid. Accord: *Collier, Inc. v. Paddock* 37 Ariz. 194, 291 P 1000 (1930); *Forrest City v. Orgill*, 87 Ark. 389, 112 SW 891 (1908); *Pasadena v. Estrin*, 212 Cal. 231, 298 P 14 (1931); *Durango v. Pennington*, 8 Colo. 257, 7 P 14 (1885) and numerous other jurisdictions.

B. The contract between plaintiff and the municipal corporation is void because said contract was not countersigned by City Recorder.

In addition Utah Law (Section 10-10-61, Utah Code Annotated, 1953) requires that a municipal contract in order to be valid must be countersigned by the City Recorder and if not so countersigned the contract is *void ab initio* in view of the mandatory language of the statute. Specifically, the Uniform Municipal Fiscal Procedures Act relating to the duties of the City Recorder with respect to contracts provides as follows:

He [City Recorder] shall countersign all contracts made on behalf of the city, *and every contract* made on behalf of the city or to which the city is a party *shall be void unless signed by the recorder . . .* (emphasis supplied) Section 10-10-61, Utah Code Annotated (1953).

While this court has not ruled upon the application of this statute, six other jurisdictions have ruled and upheld the proposition that a municipal contract is in-

valid if it is not countersigned as provided by state statute or ordinance. In *Council v. City of Dothay*, 236 Ala. 166, 181 So 293 (1938) and in *West Virginia Coal Co. of Missouri v. City of St. Louis*, 324 Mo. 968, 25 S.W. 2d 466 (1930), the Alabama and Missouri Supreme Courts, respectively upheld the rule of law that since the signature of the clerk and/or the controller did not appear as mandated by law those municipal contracts could not be enforced as against the municipal corporations. Other jurisdictions holding similarly are: *Superior v. Horton*, 63 F 357 (7th CCA, 1893) (comptroller's countersignature was essential to validity of contract); *Press Pub. Co. v. Pittsburgh*, 207 Pa. 623, 57 A 75, (1904); *Ellerbe & Co. v. Hudson*, 1 Wis. 2d 148, 83 NW 2d 700 (1957) (countersignature by comptroller is mandatory requirement of statute); *White Const. Co. v. Beloit*, 178 Wis. 335, 190 NW 195 (1922); *Lee v. Racine*, 64 Wis. 231, 24 NW 33 (1885) (no countersignature of comptroller, contract invalid).

Again the use of the word "shall" is mandatory and according to the *Herr* case *supra* the same rationale applies and therefore the contract is void.

C. Assuming arguendo that a contract existed plaintiff is barred from recovery because it failed to observe the requirements of Sections 63-30-13, and 10-7-77, Utah Code Annotated (1953).

Assuming, without admitting, that plaintiff had entered into a valid contract with the municipal corp-

oration, the plaintiff is under a mandatory obligation to observe the requirements of Section 63-30-13, Utah Code Annotated (1953) wherein it states, *inter alia*:

A claim against a political subdivision *shall be forever barred unless notice thereof is filed within ninety days* after the cause of action arises ... (emphasis added)

This court had an opportunity to decide this question in a rather recent case in *Baugh v. Logan City*, 27 U 2d 291, 495 P2d 814 (1972) wherein the court stated that an action on a contractual obligation is a claim permitted under the Governmental Immunity Act, but notice of such claim must be filed in accordance with Section 63-30-13, Utah Code Annotated (1953). In the Baugh case a claim based on contract was made against the City of Logan for the exchange of land owned by the plaintiff with land owned by the municipal corporation. In upholding the need that a claim must be filed with the city the court speaking through Chief Justice Callister stated the following:

"Finally plaintiffs contend that the trial court erred in its determination that Section 63-30-13 applies to a cause of action based on contract. Section 63-30-13 provides:

A *claim* against a political subdivision shall be forever barred unless notice thereof is filed within ninety days after the cause of action arises, ... [emphasis added].

Section 63-30-2 (5) provides:

The word "claim" shall mean *any claim* brought against a governmental entity or employees as *permitted by this act*; [emphasis added].

Section 63-30-5 provides:

Immunity from suit of all government entities is waived as to any contractual obligation. [emphasis added].

Since an action on a contractual obligation is a claim permitted under the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, notice of such claim must be filed in accordance with Section 63-30-13." 27 Utah 2d at 295.

1. This cause of action arose on or about November 24, 1970, or in the alternative on or about December 29, 1972.

The lower court found that the "main sewer line was completed in December, 1970, and that houses were constructed on the 167 lots so *that by December, 1971*, 141 houses [connections] had been completed, connected to the sewer system and were paying monthly service charges of \$3.50 per month and thereafter the remaining 26 lots were completed, connected to the system and began paying the monthly service charge of \$3.50 per month by June 1, 1972." (Findings of Fact, paragraph No. 7), and that "... the plaintiff on May 17, 1973, did file a verified claim with the city pursuant to the appropriate statutes." (Findings of

Fact, paragraph No. 9).

Further, according to plaintiff's testimony no payment was made by the city to the plaintiff during the period of December, 1970 to May 17, 1973 inclusive, and that no payment was ever made by the city to the plaintiff pursuant to the alleged contract. Upon cross-examination plaintiff's witness Mr. Green testified as follows:

Q. You testified that the subdivisions were completed ninety-five to ninety-five [sic] per cent by October of 1971, is that true?

A. Yes, this is true.

Q. Okay. In December — in November of 1971 did you receive any payment from the city on a payback agreement?

A. No, we didn't.

Q. In December did you receive any payment?

A. No.

Q. In January of '72 did you receive any money?

A. No.

Q. Did you receive any money from the city on a pay-back agreement up until now?

A. No. We have received nothing.  
(Tr. p. 72, lines 7 to 20).

Further, the uncontroverted evidence shows that the plaintiff did make its first demand for payment

under the alleged payback agreement sometime in October, 1971, and many times thereafter as it is shown from the following questions and answers:

Q. (By Mr. Colessides) Did Midwest Realty other than the Verified Complaint that was filed on May 17, 1973, make a demand upon the City of West Jordan for a pay-back?

A. Verbally, yes.

Q. When did they make that?

A. Several times. On several occasions.

Q. Would you state the first date they did that?

A. Boy, I don't recall to be honest with you.

Q. In October of '71 did you make a demand for payment?

A. Yes.

Q. You did? In October of '71 you did?

A. I am not sure if it was exactly October but by then we had made demand for payments.

Q. You made repeated demands for payment?

A. Yes.

Q. So can you — that's very important Mr. Green. Would you say that in October of '71 with ninety-one percent of the subdivision completed you had made demand upon the City for payment?

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