2001

Midwest Realty v. City of West Jordan : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY IS NOT RENDERED INVALID BY STATUTE.

A. This is not a contract requiring posting and/or publication of notice.

Appellant relies on Section 10-7-20 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, in arguing that this contract was one for public improvements, and thus had to be open for public bidding after proper publication of notice. There are several reasons why this argument fails:

1. The Statute expressly limits its application to those improvements "to be paid for out of the General Funds of the City or Town...". It is clear that the pay back costs are not payable out of the General Fund, but are to be paid out of the Utility

Fund. In the Minutes of September 28, 1971, we find the following:

"The Mayor told the Councilmen that it would be necessary to arrange a pay back agreement because the General Fund is not set up to absorb this expense."

In the Minutes of September 21, 1971 (Ex. P-16) there is a distinction made between the Utility Fund and the General Fund. The report of the City Accountant was that the City was earning good money "from the utility operations". These minutes also indicate that the Accountant was trying to determine if money could be transferred from the Utility Fund reserve to the General Fund, if it is held in restricted funds. Reference is also made to the Ordinance enacted on October 5, 1971, (Ex. P-18) wherein the City specifically increases the assessment from \$3.25 to \$4.75 to pay for the pay back agreement on the sewer construction. Also it is clear from the testimony of the City Recorder and from Ordinance 42 (Ex. D-27) that the money from the utilities goes into the Utility Fund. (T. 152,158,159)

2. The terms of the agreement itself indicate that the payments are not to come from the General Fund at all, but are to be taken from the fees collected from the use of the sewer system. Our Utah Supreme Court has specifically held that this Section does not apply to improvements to be paid for exclusively out of the proceeds derived from the improvements themselves. See Barnes vs. Lehi City, 74 Utah 321, 279 P 878, Utah Power and Light Company vs. Provo City, 94 Utah 203, 74 P 2d 1191.

3. The Statute has specific language excepting from its

Application the contracts for "making connection with water mains or sewers...".

4. Additionally, but quite fundamentally, is the fact that the contract is not one for the construction of a public improvement. Appellant in this case is the owner of the property, is the constructor of the sewer systems, the water systems and the sewer main, all of which are necessary for the development of the two Subdivisions, and which are owned by the subdivider until dedicated to the City. There is no way that the Appellant, Midwest, would be required to put up for bid the construction of its own system. The system is a requirement to be met in order to develop the Subdivisions. It is difficult to understand how a public bidding concept would fit into the subdividers responsibility to furnish sewer and water.

Also, this is an agreement to repay the developer for expenses he incurred in constructing the sewer main leading to its Subdivisions. There is nothing that could be put up for bid. If the reasonableness of the price were at issue, we nevertheless have the City's stipulation that the sum is reasonable. Also, of course, the evidence is clear that the City was notified before the work started of the three bids which had been received by the City Engineer and turned over to the developer. Then, finally the City Engineer himself approved and found said costs of \$20,134.35 proper. (T. 104; Exs. 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13)

B. Countersignature by the City Recorder is not required.

Appellant relies upon Section 10-10-61 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as Amended, for the argument that since the City Recorder of

the City of West Jordan did not countersign the contract between the City and Midwest, the contract is invalid. Respondent does not believe that this Section of the Code has that effect on the subject contract, and particularly is this so in view of the historical methods of procedure followed by the City of West Jordan, a City of the Third Class.

The definite thrust of this Statute is to the effect that contract documents are involved and in existence and are signed by someone. Thereafter, the City Recorder must "countersign". The word is defined in Blacks Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition, at page 421 as:

"COUNTERSIGN": As a noun, the signature of a secretary or other subordinate officer to any writing signed by the principal or superior to vouch for the authenticity of it... (Cites cases); and

As a verb, to sign in addition to the signature of another in order to attest the authenticity. (Cites cases)."

Thus, in our case, we have no separate contract document as such, previously signed by someone, but in fact have resolutions or minutes of the City Council setting forth the contract. There actually is no document to which such a countersignature could be affixed. The purpose is obviously to authenticate the particular separate document. This authenticity of our minutes and resolutions is indicated in the testimony of the present City Recorder who stated that these were the authentic resolutions and records of the City even though there were no signatures of the City Recorder affixed to any of the minutes included in the entire Minute Book, from which the particular minutes evidenced by the

Exhibits in this case were taken. (T. 49-51) No claim was ever made by the City (until this lawsuit) that the agreement failed for lack of a countersignature. The City has never had a countersignature of the Recorder on anything.

We think therefore that the duty of the City Recorder is a ministerial duty imposed by this Section for purposes of authenticating certain contract documents, and this Section of the Code is not intended to provide a governmental veto by the City Recorder, nor is it intended to nullify the effect of resolutions and minutes, together with the agreements set forth therein, duly adopted by the City's Governing Board, it's City Council.

2. The Utah Supreme Court in Cooper vs. Holder, 21 Utah 2d 40, 440 P 2d 115, states as is the case here that when,

"...(A) contract has been entered into for that purpose, the City Council's function of policy making has been fulfilled; and there then is no policy decision to be made as to whether the City will pay what it owes for the services received."

In Richfield Cottonwood Irrigation Company vs. City of Richfield, 84 Utah 107, 34 P 2d 945, this Court has specifically held that minutes of the City Council are evidence of the facts therein recited, stating,

"...(T)he minutes were kept by various Recorders of the City. The law requires that such minutes be kept. Rev. St. Utah 1933, 15-6-44. Being public records they were competent evidence of the facts therein recited."

The legislative and governing body of cities of the Third Class consist of the Mayor and City Council. Section 10-6-5, Utah Code Annotated. The governing body shall meet, keep a journal of its proceedings, and take a vote upon the passage of all ordinances

and propositions creating liabilities against the City, and shall enter the vote upon the journal of its proceedings. Section 10-6-9. The City Recorder for cities of the Third Class is an appointive officer and that person shall also be ex officio City Auditor. Section 10-6-30. Thus, it is appropriate to note that the City Recorder is not a member of the City Council and is not granted any voice in the governing or legislative function of the City. Quite obviously the City Recorder has no veto power over the legislation adopted by the City at its regular governing meetings.

The duties of the City Recorder are set forth in Section 10-10-60 wherein he is required to keep the papers and records of the City, keep a record of the proceedings of the governing body (City Council) and attend the meetings of the governing body. There thus seems little doubt but that the City Council enacts the governing and legislative pronouncements for the City and that the City Recorder has a ministerial duty of authenticating such agreements. There is no requirement whatsoever that a City has to reduce to a separate written contract form, any agreements entered into. The actions which bind the City are handled at the Council Meetings and are set forth in the minutes, resolutions and ordinances.

In our case, we have many Minutes of the City Council extending back to August 1970 and continuing on through September 1972, in which the agreement with the Plaintiff is discussed in its various details. However, specifically on September 28, 1971. (Ex. P-17) the City Council, after considerable discussion

concerning the pay back agreement, took the following action:

"Mr. Hunt made the motion that we set the pay back agreement at \$1.50 per month to be paid by the homeowner. Also, that we pay a maximum of \$1.50 per month to the contractor. The contractor's pay back would terminate at the end of seven years, while the pay back to the City would continue until the obligation is paid. Motion was seconded by Mr. Copeland. Voting was unanimous in the affirmative."

Incidentally, Muriel Anderson, the City Recorder was present at the meeting, although her status is not shown. This meeting, of course, occurred at a time when a substantial part of the Subdivision had hooked up, and nine months after the main line had been constructed and the cost thereof submitted to the City Council by the City Engineer, under date of December 8, 1970. (Ex. P-9) Thus, we do have in addition to the various minutes and meetings preceeding September 28, 1971, a reaffirmation in writing properly voted upon and adopted unanimously at a regular meeting of the governing body of the City of West Jordan of an agreement to pay back \$1.50 per month per connection extending over a seven year period. All of the Statutory requirements were met, the minutes and the agreement have been authenticated by the City Recorder, and although no separate contract document was prepared and executed, and certainly no countersignature appears on such document that was not executed, the City has properly acted.

One should not overlook the fact, also, that the City had traditionally entered into agreements without any countersigning by the City Recorder. (T. 54, 57, 68; Ex. P-25) The City has, of course, adopted ordinances and resolutions involving financial obligations on the part of the City even though there has

been no countersignature on the part of the City Recorder.

(T. 48, 50) See Sidney Stevens Implement Company vs. Ogden City, 83 Utah 578, 33 P 2d 181, for the holding that a City can be bound by an implied contract which arises out of the general power of the City under Section 15-7-1 R.S.V., 1933 which vests in it the right and power to "make contracts and acquire and hold real and personal property for corporate purposes." This Section is now, Section 10-7-1, Utah Code Annotated.

Although Appellant has not cited the case of Rapp vs. Salt Lake City, 527 P 2d 651, ___ Utah ___, we are aware of the case, but believe that it is distinguishable from the subject case in several respects. First, the Rapp case is a tort action against the City based upon misrepresentation, and in effect seeks to impose an unjust enrichment claim against the City regardless of the intentions of the parties. Furthermore, the case in arguing for unjust enrichment, attempts to set up contracts arising out of an invitation to bid and a bid made pursuant thereto. The case was decided upon summary judgment without evidence upon many facets of the case, and particularly as to whether or not the City Recorder did countersign any agreement. Quite obviously, where there were no City Commission Minutes or Resolutions there would have been no countersignature. We believe that the Court was merely indicating by dicta various elements which go to make up statutory requirements of certain types of contracts and where the contract in the Rapp case was implied in every sense of the word, obviously the requirements were not met.

In our case, however, we have a definite course of action

upon which the Plaintiff relied, which course of action was represented by minutes and approvals by the City Council as well as a formal resolution properly adopted, as has been indicated above. We think that the Rapp case therefore is not determinative of our situation.

C. Plaintiff-Respondent complied with Sections 63-30-13 and 10-7-77 Utah Code Annotated.

Appellant argues that the Plaintiff did not file a claim within 90 days after the cause of action arose. This point simply involves a fact question, which the Lower Court has decided. Determining when the cause of action arises in a case where no specific period of time has been agreed to for the performance, becomes a question of reasonableness, which the Trial Court must settle. O'Hair vs. Counalis, 23 Utah 2d 355, 463 P 2d 799. In examining the evidence in this case, we conclude that the Trial Court was justified in determining that the Notice sent on May 17, 1973, (Ex. P-21) was within the 90 day requirement of Section 63-30-13.

Beginning August of 1970, and continuing on through the period up until September 1971, the parties met from time to time in the Council meetings to solidify the pay-back agreement. (Exs. P-13, P-14, P-15, P-16 and P-17) On October 5, 1971, the Council adopted Ordinance 17A to increase sewer rates so the pay back obligation would be better funded. (Ex. P-18) Thereafter in September, 1972, a further meeting was had at which the City explained that the matter would have to be taken up again two weeks hence. (Ex. P-19) Thereafter nothing occurred until a

meeting on February 27, 1973 at which the City Council decided to reject the agreement. This rejection was given to the Plaintiff by letter of March 1, 1973. (Ex. P-20) Thereafter, on May 17, the Notice was sent to the Appellant. (Ex. P-21)

Mr. Green, who was handling the affairs for Midwest, testified that at no time had the City rejected his claim or determined that it would not pay until he recieved the rejection in March 1973. (T. 127)

Therefore, it is reasonable to find that the Plaintiff had every reason to believe that the contract was going to be honored until he received the unequivocal rejection, March 1, 1973.

Appellant also claims that under Section 63-30-15 the action must be commenced within one year after the denial. It is obvious that the Appellant in construing Sections 63-30-13 and 63-30-15 has overlooked Section 63-30-14. Quite obviously the provisions of 63-30-13 require the filing of a claim. Section 63-30-14 provides that if the City does not approve or deny that claim so filed within 90 days, then the claim shall be deemed to have been denied. Section 63-30-15 thereupon states that an action must be commenced within one year after said denial. Thus, we have the following sequence: On March 1, 1973, the City rejected the Plaintiff's claim thus setting up the cause of action. On May 17, less than 90 days later the Plaintiff filed its claim. The action was then filed July 13, 1973. All of this shows compliance with the aforesaid Statutory requirements.

Appellant also claims that Section 10-7-77 Utah Code

Annotated was not followed and that the claim of Plaintiff is barred. Section 10-7-77 is a one year Statute of Limitations relating to the filing of claims. It obviously conflicts with Section 63-30-13 and having been re-enacted in its present form in 1973, would seem to have preference over Section 63-30-13. However, assuming that the claimant must meet both Statutes it is clear from the record that September 29, 1972, is the date that the last connection was made to the sewer system, and that the \$1.50 monthly pay back on that connection would have then commenced running and would run for seven years. Strictly speaking, of course, the last accrued item would not occur for seven years. However, assuming a position most favorable to the Appellant, the one year could in no event elapse sooner than September 29, 1973. On the other hand, if the claim accrued when it was denied March 1, 1973, then Plaintiff-Respondent had until March 1, 1974, in which to file its claim. Thus, there is no interpretation of the facts and evidence which could justify any claim that Section 10-7-77 has been violated. The claim itself is verified and meets the requirements of the Statute.

In summary, Respondent submits that the Statutes have been met, the claim properly filed and the action timely initiated.

D. The method of voting for a resolution under Section 10-6-9, Utah Code Annotated, has been met.

There is no doubt but that the August 4, 1970 presentation to the Council by Mr. Coates (Ex. P-4; T. 72, 72, 80-90) does not meet the requirements of Section 10-6-9, Utah Code Annotated. However, subsequent Council meetings leading up to September 28,

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